A18-0090  
STATE OF MINNESOTA  
IN SUPREME COURT

**FILED**

December 6, 2018

OFFICE OF  
APPELLATE COURTS

---

Minnesota Sands, LLC,

Appellant,

vs.

County of Winona, Minnesota, a Political Subdivision of the State of Minnesota,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT MINNESOTA SANDS, LLC**

---

Jay T. Squires (204699)  
Elizabeth J. Vieira (#392521)  
Kristin C. Nierengarten (#395224)  
**RUPP, ANDERSON, SQUIRES &  
WALDSPURGER**  
333 South Seventh Street, Ste. 2800  
Minneapolis, MN 55402  
(612) 436-4300  
jay.squires@raswlaw.com  
liz.vieira@raswlaw.com  
kristin.nierengarten@raswlaw.com

*Attorneys for Respondent Winona County*

Christopher H. Dolan (#386484)

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The federal Constitution creates a nationwide free-trade zone. Under the Commerce Clause, state and local governments may not ban exports of goods produced within their boundaries. Unfortunately, Winona County has done just that. The County contains large deposits of valuable silica sand, but its zoning ordinance facially bans mining except for “local” uses. The same ordinance also discriminates against interstate commerce in practical effect; the County bans mining silica sand for uses that occur in other states, while exempting from the ban a long list of uses that occur locally. The Commerce Clause does not permit that.

The Court of Appeals majority erred by holding otherwise. Its conclusion was based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the ordinance at issue here. The majority wrongly stated that the ordinance “even-handedly” bans all silica-sand mining—but no party to the case has ever contended that. Silica sand from Winona County is currently being mined and used for a variety of permitted “local” purposes, and the County concedes that the ordinance allows this. But although the very same sand is suitable for out-of-state industrial uses, Winona County bans mining it for that purpose.

In addition, the County’s mining ban makes Appellant Minnesota Sands’ mineral rights worthless, or nearly so. This is a textbook regulatory taking, for which the state and federal Constitutions require compensation. The Court of Appeals majority held otherwise only by concluding that Minnesota Sands’ leasehold interests had not “accrued” yet. That was a plain misreading of the leases.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) **Commerce Clause.** Winona County allows silica sand to be mined for “local” uses, but bans mining the very same sand for export. Silica sand is widely used in other states for oil and gas extraction, but Winona County prohibits such sand from being sold in those interstate markets, while allowing its sale for a long list of uses that occur within the County. Does this export ban violate the federal Commerce Clause?

Minnesota Sands raised the issue in its motion for summary judgment in the district court and in opposition to the County’s motions to dismiss and for summary judgment. *See* Index # 82 at 35-39; Index # 144 at 19-22. The most apposite cases are:

*Hughes v. Oklahoma*, 441 U.S. 322 (1979)

*Chemical Waste Management, Inc. v. Hunt*, 504 U.S. 334 (1992)

*Philadelphia v. New Jersey*, 437 U.S. 617 (1978)

(2) Minnesota Sands’ mineral rights have been made worthless, or nearly so, by Winona County’s ban on mining the minerals for their principal uses in the national economy. Has the County “taken” the mineral rights, so as to owe just compensation under the state and federal Constitutions?

Minnesota Sands raised the issue in its motion for summary judgment in the district court and in opposition to the County’s motions to dismiss and for summary judgment. *See* Index # 82 at 39-45; Index # 144 at 22-29. The most apposite cases are:

*Lucas v. S.C. Coastal Council.*, 505 U.S. 1003 (1992)

*Northpointe Plaza v. Rochester*, 465 N.W.2d 686 (Minn. 1991)

*Wensmann Realty, Inc. v. Eagan*, 734 N.W.2d 623 (Minn. 2007)

*Interstate Cos., Inc. v. Bloomington*, 790 N.W.2d 409 (Minn. Ct. App. 2010)

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

### **A. Minnesota Sands Proposes to Mine Silica Sand.**

The hilly “Driftless Area” on the southern part of the Minnesota-Wisconsin boundary has rich deposits of valuable silica sand. *See* Index # 85 at WC0794 ¶ 12; Index # 99 at 1. This sand is useful for a wide variety of applications, including in buildings, for road paving, as animal bedding, in glass-making, and on golf courses. Index # 85 at WC0794 ¶ 12. Index # 99 at 1. As described by the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources:

Silica sand is found in the southeastern portion of the state. Five mines are currently known to extract silica sand for industrial applications. An unknown number of silica sand mines produce silica sand for construction and agricultural uses....

... In Minnesota, all silica sand mines that produce industrial and agricultural sand operate as surface quarries using similar equipment as aggregate mines.

Index # 99 at 1. Some of Minnesota’s silica-sand deposits are in Winona County. *See, id.*; Index # 92 ¶ 21. Local quarries in the county have long mined silica sand for construction and agricultural purposes. *See*, Index # 99 at 1; Index # 92 ¶ 38.

This same silica sand also is useful in oil and gas extraction, in the process known as hydraulic fracturing or “fracking.” Index # 99 at 1. Fracking extracts oil and gas through fractures in the surrounding rock. Index # 92 at ¶ 12. This requires filling the

fractures with a “proppant”: a substance that is strong enough to prop the fractures open, and yet porous enough to allow hydrocarbons to flow out through them. Index # 92 at ¶¶ 13-14. Silica sand is one of the relatively few substances that meets these requirements, and the sand from the Driftless Area in southeast Minnesota is among the highest-quality silica sand in North America. Index # 99 at 2.

The same silica sand that is useful for fracking can also be used for the other applications noted above. Index # 92 ¶ 10. Indeed, “[t]he same characteristics” of silica sand are useful in both fracking and livestock operations: because the sand is porous, it allows hydrocarbon migration, and it also allows fluids produced by cattle to drain away from animals lying on the sand. ADD-92-103. Regardless of what the silica sand is ultimately used for, “[t]he process to mine [it] ... does not differ in any material way.” *Id.* ¶ 9. Nothing about mining for frac sand requires the operation “to be larger in size or scope than a sand and gravel mine ... for construction purposes.” *Id.* ¶ 36. Sand for fracking typically, but not always, requires some processing after being dug up, but this need not occur at the mine site—it can be done at the fracking site itself or at a third-party processing location. Index # 79 at WC0443.

In June 2013, the Winona County Board of Commissioners approved a new mine, known as the “Nisbit mine,” for extraction of industrial silica sand. Index # 101 at WC1266. Sand from the Nisbit mine meets the American Petroleum Institute’s specifications for use as a fracking proppant, *see* Index # 92 ¶ 38, and the mine owner’s proposal was to sell most of the sand for fracking and other interstate uses and the rest for local agricultural purposes. *See In re Env’tl Impact Statement*, 849 N.W.2d 71, 84 (Minn.

Ct. App. 2014). The road-use agreement that the Nisbit mine reached with the County also contemplated that its sand could be used for a variety of industrial, construction, and agricultural purposes. ADD-106 at WC2368. Nisbit sand currently is sold for use as livestock bedding. ADD-101 ¶ 53.<sup>1</sup>

The County carefully regulates the Nisbit mine. When demand for silica sand began growing in 2011 and 2012, Winona County developed a “Silica Sand Mining and Processing Application packet, [a] Road Use Agreement,” and numerous other legal and technical requirements for mining—36 conditions in all. Index # 25 at 4; Index # 79 at WC0610. In a memo to the County Board and Planning Commission, the Winona County Attorney described these requirements as “detailed and comprehensive silica sand mining and processing ... requirements,” and stated that they create “a rather intensive application process.” Index # 123 at WC0593, WC0599. The County applied these conditions, plus some additional ones, to permitting the Nisbit mine. Index # 79 at WC0610. The County crafted the Nisbit mine permit to protect water quality and to control dust, noise, light pollution, and erosion. *See* Index # 101 at WC1267; *Env’tl Impact Statement*, 849 N.W.2d 71. The County also limits truck traffic from the Nisbit mine on county highways and requires the Nisbit mine operator to defray part of the financial cost of wear and tear on its roads. *See* Index # 101 at WC1269. Additionally,

---

<sup>1</sup> The Nisbit Mine is allowed to sell sand as a fracking proppant, but Minnesota Sands is informed and believes that the Nisbit sand currently is sold *only* as livestock bedding. The Winona County Board was told as much during the legislative process that led to the ordinance being challenged here. Index # 125 at WC2422.

the County required a detailed reclamation plan, and full performance bonds for the Nisbit mine's road-maintenance and reclamation obligations. Index # 101 ¶ 32. In subsequent litigation, the Court of Appeals found that additional steps were not required to permit the Nisbit mine. *Evn'tl Impact Statement*, 849 N.W.2d at 81, 84. The Nisbit mine continues in operation to this day.

Minnesota Sands wishes to conduct similar mining. Over the past several years, Minnesota Sands has invested millions of dollars sampling and testing Winona County sand, obtaining several mineral leaseholds,<sup>2</sup> conducting environmental-review activities, developing operating plans, and buying and maintaining purchase options for transport and processing sites. Index #s 92-93. Minnesota Sands estimates these expenses have been at least \$2,595,500.00, and the actual value likely is significantly higher. *See* ADD-98 ¶ 29.

Minnesota Sands' proposal is to sell the sand on the interstate market for use in fracking. It currently has leasehold interests to mine Winona County silica sand that is suitable for use as a proppant. Index # 92 ¶ 38; ADD-93 ¶ 6. Each of Minnesota Sands' mineral leases in Winona County contains identical language, limiting its rights "solely to min[ing] Frac Sand to be used by Tenant for commercial purposes." *See, e.g.*, Index # 107 § 5(a)). Since Minnesota has no significant deposits of oil or gas within its borders, Minnesota Sands' proposed business is selling silica sand for export to other States.

---

<sup>2</sup> The leases were mostly obtained by Minnesota Sands' member Richard Frick in late 2011 and early 2012. Mr. Frick assigned the leases to Minnesota Sands, with the consent of the landlords, in February 2012. *See* ADD-93-97 ¶¶ 12-24.

Index # 92 ¶ 16. After the mining is complete, Minnesota Sands proposes to restore the mined land to prairies and farmland. ADD-103 ¶ 70.

**B. Winona County Bans Silica-Sand Exports.**

Minnesota Sands fully expected that the County would require reasonable environmental and transportation safeguards in connection with its mining, as it does with the Nisbit mine. Minnesota Sands was (and is) prepared to negotiate and comply with such requirements. In 2012, Minnesota Sands initially applied to Winona County for conditional-use permits and began preparing the required Environmental Assessment Worksheets. ADD-100 ¶¶ 44, 46. Winona County, however, told Minnesota Sands to wait on its permit request and to seek an Environmental Impact Statement first. *Id.* ¶ 46. The permitting process started and stopped in the ensuing years, depending on market conditions for silica sand.

But instead of seeing the permitting process through, Winona County completely banned silica sand exports.

**1. The legislative push for a “frac sand ban.”**

In 2016, in response to Minnesota Sands’ proposed operations, the Winona County Board considered additional regulation of silica sand mining. The ensuing legislative process and public debate focused on a single issue: whether Winona County should ban mining silica sand for use in fracking. The Winona County Board initially considered a regulation drafted by the Land Stewardship Project. The initial draft expressly banned all mining for “frac sand,” which it defined as “[s]ilica sand that, when processed, is suitable for use as a proppant [in fracking] and that is intended to be sold or

used as such,” but as *excluding* “silica sand that is intended to be sold or used for construction, agriculture, or other applications where its use is other than as frac sand.” Index # 86 at WC0701. The County Board members also described this is a frac sand ban. Index # 23 at 1; Index # 120 at WC0699. Much of the public support for the ban apparently was motivated by silica-sand mining in Wisconsin, which occurs at a far greater scale than anything Winona County has ever considered. Index # 121 at WC0193, WC0206, WC0281 (26 mines in neighboring Trempealeau County, ranging in size from approximately 180 to 1,300 acres).

Revisions in the legislative process did not materially change the proposal. The Winona County Attorney recognized that the County lacks jurisdiction to try to prevent fracking in other states and, as a result, found the first proposal to be “minimally viable” because it lacked a rational connection to the County’s legitimate government purposes. Index # 4 at 1, 5. She attempted to re-write the proposal to provide that connection without changing its effect. Her revision eliminated the direct reference to “frac sand,” but left the substance of the ban in place: the revised language banned mining for “industrial minerals” while allowing mining for “local” uses. Index # 85 at WC0787. The County Planning Commission considered this revision and asked a representative of the Land Stewardship Project why it did not expressly mention fracking. Her response: “[t]he County Attorney thought the current language was preferable and has the same effect.” ADD-109 at WC0911. The Land Stewardship Project supported the County Attorney’s revised proposal and continued referring to it as a “frac-sand ban” throughout the legislative process. Index # 117 at WC0110 (“[W]e ask that you adopt a ban on frac

sand operations, as presented to you as Option A[] in County Attorney Sonneman’s memorandum”).

The public debate also focused almost exclusively on “frac-sand.” In fact, throughout the legislative process, the most common name for the proposed ordinance was the “frac-sand ban.” Of the hundreds of letters and written statements to the County Board and Planning Commission on this issue, both before and after the County Attorney’s revision, almost everyone refers expressly to banning the mining of “frac-sand.” Index # 121 at WC0001-70, WC0077-171; Index # 129 at WC0319-413; Index # 140 at WC1883-1990, 1997-2003; Index # 122 at 2237-56, 2922-59; *see especially* Index # 129 at WC0359-68 (letter from over 40 business owners and executives, and 11 nonprofit or community organizations, asking the county “to ban any new frac-sand mining, processing, or transportation”), WC0392 (Izaak Walton League Winona chapter asking for “a ban on any new frac-sand mining, processing, or transportation”), WC0406 (Winona State University Student Senate “supports a ban on frac-sand mining”); Index # 124 at WC0744 (Win-Cress Chapter of Trout Unlimited “support[s] a ban on frac-sand mining”). And throughout the legislative and amendment process, Winona County’s own official board and planning commission minutes described public comments supporting and opposing “a Frac Sand Ban.” Index # 124 at WC0745, WC0757, WC0779 WC0814; ADD-108-109 at WC0910-11; Index # 126 at 0913.

The County’s Planning Commission, however, recommended a more measured approach. The Planning Commission passed a recommendation that the County limit all silica sand mining rather than banning silica sand for exports, by capping the permitted

operations at six total mines, each of 40 acres or less. Index # 88 at WC0756.

Alternatively, “the County Attorney and Planning Staff” also suggested codifying “the requirements of the Silica Sand Mining and Processing Application Packet” that the County was already using in its permitting process. Index # 90 at WC0774. They told the Board that this option would “take[] into consideration all that we have learned and developed since the County was first faced with addressing silica sand mining in 2011 and 2012.” *Id.*

But the Board rejected those alternatives. *See* Index # 85 at WC0786. Instead, by a 3-2 vote, the Board adopted the County Attorney’s revised version of the complete ban. This revision created a new distinction between construction and industrial minerals, pulling the definition of these terms directly from the Zoning Ordinance of Minnesota’s Florence Township. Index # 123 at WC0622; Index # 117 at 9. The County admitted to using this township ordinance “as a useful guide.” Index # 117 at 9.<sup>3</sup>

In its official findings, the Board disclaimed hostility to fracking as the motivation for the ban, stating that its decision was based on “the specific impacts of activities within Winona County, not on external activities or uses.” Index # 25 at 9. As a result of the

---

<sup>3</sup> The Florence Township ordinance appears to have been drafted in 2013 by David Williams, an anti-frac sand activist, LSP member, and a retired lawyer. *See* Index # 144 at 11, n.5.

ordinance, Winona County established three separate bans on the mining, processing, and transportation of minerals that would be used outside its own “local” area.<sup>4</sup>

**2. The enacted ordinance bans mining except for “local” purposes.**

In relevant part, the final ordinance amendment provides as follows:

*CONSTRUCTION MINERALS:* The term “construction minerals” includes natural common rock, stone, aggregate, gravel and **sand that is produced and used for local construction purposes**, including road pavement, unpaved road gravel or cover, concrete, asphalt, building and construction stone, riprap, mortar sand, construction lime, agricultural lime and bedding sand for livestock operations, sewer and septic systems, landfills, and sand blasting. The term “construction minerals” does not include “industrial minerals” as defined below.

*INDUSTRIAL MINERALS:* **The term “industrial minerals” includes** naturally-existing high quartz level stone, **silica sand**, quartz, graphite, diamonds, gemstones, kaolin, and other similar minerals used in industrial applications, **but excluding construction minerals as defined above....** “Silica sand” has the meaning given in Minnesota Statutes, section 116C.99, subd. 1(d): “‘Silica sand’ means well-rounded, sand-sized grains of quartz (silicon dioxide), with very little impurities in terms of other minerals. Specifically, **the silica sand for the purposes of this section is commercially valuable for use in the hydraulic fracturing of shale to obtain oil and natural gas.** Silica sand does not include common rock, stone, aggregate, gravel, sand with a low quartz level, or silica compounds recovered as a by-product of metallic mining....”

....  
**Industrial mineral operations, which includes the excavation, extraction, mining and processing of industrial minerals[,] are prohibited in Winona County [with an exception for pre-existing uses]....**

Index # 132 at WC3008-3010 (emphases added).

---

<sup>4</sup> For ease of reference, Minnesota Sands sometimes refers to these bans collectively as a “mining ban.” But the ordinance separately prohibits all three activities: mining, processing, and transportation.

Because the same “silica sand” that is “commercially valuable for use in ... hydraulic fracturing” is also “sand that is produced and used for local construction purposes[,]” the ordinance amendment has only one practical effect: it bans exports of silica sand. Winona County does not have significant deposits of diamonds, gemstones, or any of the “industrial minerals” listed in the statute—except for silica sand. Index #92 at ¶ 8. Moreover, the “local construction” exception appears to include all existing uses for silica sand within Winona County. The record does not disclose any use for silica sand inside Winona County that would not qualify as “local construction” under the ordinance. By contrast, the “industrial” uses covered by the ban—principally in fracking—are exclusively outside Winona County in other States. In short, Winona County prohibited mining silica sand for use outside of Minnesota, but expressly exempted all “local” uses from its ban.

Since Minnesota Sands’ proposed mining is now illegal, its mineral leaseholds are essentially worthless. ADD-101-102 ¶¶ 56-59. John Manes, a minerals and business appraiser, opined in an affidavit that the market value of Minnesota Sands’ leasehold interests is now “\$0.” Index # 100 ¶ 8. Even if its leases would still allow Minnesota Sands to mine sand for “local” purposes, the combination of capital investments needed to start mining plus local market conditions means that construction-sand “mining is not economically viable.” ADD-102 ¶ 60.

### **C. The Lower Courts Reject Minnesota Sands’ Claims.**

Minnesota Sands brought this action claiming (as relevant here) that the mining ban violates the federal Commerce Clause and requires just compensation under the state

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