**FILED**

**NO. A18-0090**

January 15, 2019

State of Minnesota  
**In Supreme Court**

**OFFICE OF  
APPELLATE COURTS**

Minnesota Sands, LLC,

*Appellant,*

vs.

County of Winona, Minnesota,  
a Political Subdivision of the State of Minnesota,

*Respondent.*

**WINONA COUNTY'S PRINCIPAL BRIEF**

Jay T. Squires (#204699)  
Elizabeth J. Vieira (#392521)  
Kristin C. Nierengarten (#395224)  
RUPP, ANDERSON, SQUIRES  
& WALDSPURGER, P.A.  
333 South Seventh Street  
Suite 2800  
Minneapolis, MN 55402  
(612) 436-4300  
[Jay.squires@raswlaw.com](mailto:Jay.squires@raswlaw.com)  
[Liz.vieira@raswlaw.com](mailto:Liz.vieira@raswlaw.com)

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

**I. APPELLANT HAS NOT SHOWN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE ORDINANCE AMENDMENT VIOLATES THE DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE.**

Appellant asserts the Ordinance Amendment is unconstitutional because it violates the Commerce Clause. The Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution “has

long been interpreted to contain an implied negative command, called the dormant Commerce Clause, that states may not unduly burden or discriminate against interstate commerce.” *Matter of Griepentrog*, 888 N.W.2d 478, 494 (Minn. App. 2016) (citing *Chapman v. Comm’r of Revenue*, 651 N.W.2d 825, 832 (Minn. 2002)). In approaching a dormant Commerce Clause challenge, the Court “first determine[s] whether the challenged law discriminates against interstate commerce.” *Swanson v. Integrity Advance, LLC*, 870 N.W.2d 90, 94 (Minn. 2015).

**A. The Ordinance Amendment does not discriminate against commerce.**

In order to implicate the Commerce Clause, and therefore require analysis of it, a regulation must discriminate against commerce. “[D]iscrimination’ simply means differential treatment of in-state and out-of-state economic interests that benefits the former and burdens the latter.” *Oregon Waste Sys. Inc. v. Dep’t of Environmental Qual. of State of Or.*, 511 U.S. 93, 99 (1994). There is no such discrimination here because the Ordinance Amendment does not distinguish between industrial silica sand based on the intended destination or the location of the entity seeking to mine it. Industrial silica-sand mining is prohibited regardless of whether the sand is destined for Minneapolis, North Dakota, or Texas. No person or entity can conduct industrial silica-sand mining regardless of whether that person or entity is from Minnesota, Wisconsin, or Canada. In other words, the Ordinance Amendment “does not create any distinction or difference between competitors from different... states, which means it creates no relative difference in treatment that implicates the dormant Commerce Clause.” *Portland Pipe Line Corp. v. City of S. Portland*, 332 F. Supp. 3d 264, 302 (D. Me. 2018), *amended*, No. 2:15-CV-

00054-JAW, 2018 WL 4901162 (D. Me. Oct. 9, 2018), *appeal docketed*, No. 18-2118 (1st Cir. Nov. 13, 2018).

Appellant asserts the Ordinance Amendment discriminates against interstate commerce simply because it wishes to perform industrial mineral mining and sell the sand for use outside of Minnesota. However, the mere “fact that the burden of a state regulation falls on some interstate companies does not, by itself, establish a claim of discrimination against interstate commerce.” *Exxon Corp. v. Governor of Maryland*, 437 U.S. 117, 126 (1978). Under the Ordinance Amendment, “there is no reason to suspect the gainers will be Minnesota firms, or the losers out-of-state firms,” because the challenger to the legislation is a Minnesota company. *Minn. v. Clover Leaf Creamery Co.*, 449 U.S. 456, 473 (1981).

***1. The Ordinance Amendment does not impose an “export ban.”***

An export ban involves a regulation of articles that prohibits them from leaving a specified area. For example, in *Hughes v. Oklahoma*, individuals were prohibited from removing minnows from Oklahoma, while they could fish for minnows to use within the state. 441 U.S. 322 (1979). Similarly, in the context of waste flow-control ordinances, an export ban consists of a municipality “direct[ing] all citizens within its jurisdiction to dispose of their garbage in its landfill.” *See Barker Bros. Waste v. Dyer Cty. Legislative Body*, 923 F. Supp. 1042, 1054-55 (W.D. Tenn. 1996).

Unlike an export ban, the Ordinance Amendment does not regulate where an existing product may or may not go, such as minnows out of state or waste into a state. The Ordinance Amendment places restrictions on the *process* of mining, not the *product*.

*Hughes* did not regulate *how* minnows were caught or whether they could be caught at all, but rather where they went. And waste flow-control cases do not regulate the generation of waste, but the disposition of the product *after* it is collected.

The County has found no cases specifically prohibiting anything the courts have called an “export ban.” The only time such “bans” have been addressed in dormant-commerce-clause litigation has involved export of water. Other cases involving natural resources have involved state regulations regarding local processing that affected commercial transactions later. *See, e.g. South-Central Timber Dev., Inc. v. Wunnicke*, 467 U.S. 82, 96 (1984) (finding local timber processing requirements prior to export unconstitutional). The County is entitled to a presumption of constitutionality and Appellant has not come close to overcoming that presumption.

**2. *The Ordinance Amendment does not facially discriminate.***

Appellant hopes that by repeatedly referring to the Ordinance Amendment as a “facial ban,” the Court will avoid looking at the text of the Ordinance to determine what it actually does. A facially discriminatory statute is one that, on its face, treats in-state and out-of-state economic interests differently. *Chapman*, 651 N.W.2d at 834. For example, in *Chapman*, a statute was discriminatory on its face because the challenged tax provisions provided a deduction for contributions to a charity operating within the state, but no deduction for contributions to a charity operating outside the state. *Id.* In *Oregon Waste*, a state statute charged \$0.85 per ton for disposal of solid waste and an additional \$2.25 per ton for waste generated out of state. 511 U.S. at 96. In *Hughes*, the statute “on

its face discriminates against interstate commerce” because “[i]t forbids the transportation of natural minnows out of the State for purposes of sale.” 441 U.S. at 336-37.

Plainly, the Ordinance Amendment is not in the same category as these statutes which explicitly distinguish between in-state and out-of-state entities. Indeed, Appellant does not identify any language in the Ordinance Amendment that distinguishes between in-state and out-of-state economic interests. Appellant cannot do so because there is no language on the face of the Ordinance Amendment that does so. Appellant asserts that “[o]n its face, Winona County’s zoning amendment bans mining except for ‘local’ purposes.” App. Br. 24. Unsurprisingly, Appellant cannot find support for this assertion in the record because that is not what the Ordinance Amendment says. The Ordinance Amendment prohibits industrial-mineral mining for all entities, regardless of whether the entity is based in-state or out-of-state and regardless of whether the mined material would be used in-state or out-of-state.

In pertinent part, the Ordinance Amendment adds Section 9.10.B. to the WCZO, which states “Industrial-mineral operations, which includes the excavation, extraction, mining and processing of industrial minerals are prohibited in Winona County.” Add. 27. The Ordinance Amendment also inserts a definition of “Industrial-mineral operations,” which defines those operations as including excavation, extraction, procession, storing or stockpiling, and hauling or transporting industrial minerals. Add. 25-26. Nothing within the text of the Ordinance Amendment distinguishes between in-state and out-of-state interests in industrial-mineral operations because the Ordinance Amendment does not do so on its face.

Appellant implies the use of the word “local” in the Ordinance Amendment’s separate definition of “construction minerals” creates a facial distinction between in-state and out-of-state destinations for silica sand. But this definition is not applicable to Appellant’s operations because Appellant seeks only to engage in mining for industrial minerals, not construction minerals.<sup>5</sup>

Moreover, Appellant and the court of appeals Dissent ignore the fact that there was no dispute of material fact at the district-court level over whether the Ordinance Amendment permitted the export of construction minerals to Wisconsin. The district court noted that “‘local’ purposes are never defined any further and could include interstate markets, such as Wisconsin.” App. Add. 61-62. The County introduced an unchallenged factual affidavit from the County Official with the authority to interpret the Ordinance Amendment explaining that his interpretation of the term “local” included Wisconsin. Doc. 115 at ¶14. At the district court, Appellant did not offer *any* evidence regarding the term local or that the Zoning Administrator did not have the authority to interpret the Ordinance Amendment. Thus, there was no genuine dispute over this material fact at the trial court.

It was only once this matter reached the appellate level that Appellant asserted for the first time that the Zoning Administrator’s interpretation was incorrect. Issues raised

---

<sup>5</sup> The court of appeals correctly noted Appellant does not have standing to challenge the definition of “construction minerals” because Appellant does not seek to mine construction minerals. App. Add. 12-13. Although the parties cannot raise new issues on appeal, the Court may consider standing because it is essential to jurisdiction. *Id.* (quoting *In re Guardianship of Tschumy*, 853 N.W.2d 728, 733-34 (Minn. 2014)).

for the first time on appeal are not considered. *Thiele v. Stich*, 425 N.W.2d 580, 582 (Minn. 1988). Additionally, Appellant attempts to define the word “local” as it is used in the Ordinance Amendment by introducing a definition of the phrase “local government” as meaning “counties, towns, and cities.” App. Br. 31. Appellant asserts that any time the word “local” is used by a governmental entity, it means only its own jurisdiction. There are numerous flaws with this argument. Notably, the House Research definition cited by Appellant includes the following: “Sometimes, absent a definition, only the context of the law will indicate what entities are meant to be included.” Deborah A. Dyson, House Research: Terms Used in Local Government Legislation, Oct. 2016, *available at* <https://www.house.leg.state.mn.us/hrd/pubs/ss/sslterms.pdf>. Thus, Appellant’s own source acknowledges context is important to determining the meaning of the phrase “local government.” Second, the definition applies to the phrase “local government,” not to the word “local.” Third, there is nothing within that definition that justifies Appellant’s assertion that “local” when used by a government must only refer to “its own” jurisdiction. Even if the Court adopted this definition, it does nothing to clarify the geographic limitations of the Ordinance Amendment because it still allows local use to include construction minerals used in “counties, towns, and cities” in Wisconsin.

The Dissent’s interpretation regarding the use of the word “local” is similarly flawed. First, the Dissent ignored the fact that Appellant failed to raise the issue below, and therefore, it should not be considered. Second, the Dissent failed to acknowledge the undisputed fact that the Zoning Administrator has authority to interpret the Ordinance Amendment. *See* Doc. 115 at ¶¶3, 11 (“Part of my responsibilities as Zoning

Administrator include interpreting and enforcing ordinances.”). This undisputed authority means a dictionary definition carries less weight because the Zoning Administrator has explained the manner in which he would exercise enforcement authority. Third, the Dissent’s analysis flips the burdens imposed on the parties by requiring the County to show sand is exported to Wisconsin. Since Appellant bears the burden of proof of showing unconstitutionality in all circumstances and “every inference is invoked in favor of constitutionality,” Appellant bears the burden of showing sand *cannot* be exported to other states.<sup>6</sup> Fourth, no court has adopted the interpretation that weighing “relatively small quantities” of commercial activities versus “a substantial amount of interstate commerce in silica sand” is the appropriate test to apply to a facial commerce-clause challenge. *See* App. Add. 28. The Dissent seeks to impose significantly higher burdens on the County to justify its Ordinance Amendment than courts require for a facial challenge.

The Zoning Administrator’s interpretation leaves open the possibility that “local construction use” includes construction sand exported to Wisconsin because the fact of out-of-state use is not, alone, a violation of the Ordinance. For a facial challenge to succeed, Appellant must show the Ordinance Amendment is always unconstitutional in every application. Since the Ordinance Amendment permits some interstate commerce, Appellant cannot establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the Ordinance Amendment is always facially unconstitutional.

---

<sup>6</sup> There is no authority for the assertion that the Court *should* look at existing operations rather than the text of the Ordinance.

In short, there is no differential treatment between in-state and out-of-state economic interests in the Ordinance Amendment because all industrial mineral mining is prohibited and that is the only activity Appellant seeks to engage in.

**3. *The Ordinance Amendment does not discriminate in its effects.***

At the outset, this Court should ignore any argument by Appellant or its Amici asserting the Ordinance Amendment is discriminatory in its effects. Appellant did not brief this issue to the court of appeals. *See* App. Add. 12, n. 3. Although Appellant may have discussed the issue at oral argument, the standard this Court has enforced is that issues “not argued *in the briefs*” are waived. *See Melina v. Chaplin*, 327 N.W.2d 19, 20 (Minn. 1982) (emphasis supplied). The County has found no case in which this Court approved an exception for an issue addressed at oral argument before the court of appeals that was not briefed. Nonetheless, if the Court chooses to address this issue, the County provides the following argument.

Appellant asserts the “County has prohibited mining for the ‘industrial’ uses that occur in other states, while carving out a convenient exception for the ‘construction’ and agricultural uses that occur in Minnesota.” App. Br. 24. As with Appellant’s assertion regarding facial discrimination, this is not true.

A regulation is discriminatory in its effects “when, in practice, it affects similarly situated entities in a market by imposing disproportionate burdens on out-of-state interests and conferring advantages upon in-state interests.” *Family Winemakers of California v. Jenkins*, 592 F.3d 1, 10 (1st Cir. 2010). Discriminatory effects are found where the regulation results in a benefit to certain in-state interests at the expense of

parallel out-of-state interests. For example, *Family Winemakers* involved a Massachusetts statute that permitted different means of distribution for “small” wineries versus “large” wineries. In practice, all of the wineries in Massachusetts were “small” and therefore had less restrictive distribution channels, while “large” wineries, which were all located out-of-state, were subject to more onerous regulations. *Id.* Similarly, *Hunt v. Washington State Apple Advertising Commission* concerned a North Carolina law that prohibited apples sold within the state from having any grade on them other than one designated by the federal government. 432 U.S. 333 (1977). Other states, including Washington, had their own grades of apples which producers typically marked on boxes in addition to the federal grade. North Carolina’s law required producers to stop shipments to North Carolina, or create different packaging solely for sale to the state.

Once again, these examples are a far-cry from the County’s regulation. The Ordinance Amendment creates no distinction between in-state and out-of-state interests. It is not as if Minnesota Sands, an in-state company, can perform industrial-mineral mining and a corporation from outside the state cannot without additional burdens, as was the case in *Family Wineries*.

Under the Ordinance Amendment, industrial-mineral operations are prohibited in the County. This means no company or entity, regardless of where it is located, can conduct industrial-mineral operations in the County.<sup>7</sup> The Dissent argues the Ordinance Amendment discriminates against silica-sand consumers in other states, while benefiting

---

<sup>7</sup> The Nisbit mine is the sole exception because it is a legal nonconforming use.

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